IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

OI DIVING BRIDE OIL	Donuk
OPENING BRIEF ON T	Frank A. McGuire Clerk
After a Decision by the C Fifth Appellate D	
Defendants and Appellants.))
) William D. Palmer, Judge
GHASSAN ELMALIH,) CV-276603/CV-276962
KAMAL KENNY NASSER and) Superior Court Nos.
v.) Kern County
Plaintiff and Respondent,) Court of Appeal Nos.) F066645/F066646
THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,	

STEVEN GRAFF LEVINE State Bar No. 140585 1112 Montana Avenue #309 Santa Monica, CA 90403 Work: (310) 497-1974 Fax: (310) 459-8313

stevengrafflevine@hotmail.com

Attorney for Appellants Nasser and Elmalih

INTRODUCTION

A. Nature of the Action

The Kern County District Attorney's Office brought a civil action under Business and Professions Code section 17200 seeking injunctive relief against appellants' Internet cafes' phone card sweepstakes feature. The trial court granted a preliminary injunction and the Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's order. The Court accepted the case for review to consider the question of whether a phone card sweepstakes feature, which allowed purchasers and nonpurchasers to reveal cash prizes on appellants' in-store computer terminals, rendered the computer terminals illegal slot machines under Penal Code section 330b, as the Court of Appeal essentially overruled an earlier Court of Appeal opinion on the same subject matter.

B. Summary of Significant Facts

Appellants Kamal Nasser and Ghassan Elmalih each ran an Internet café in Kern County. As part of the services they provided, each sold a prepaid telephone card that charged users three cents a minute for domestic calls, with no hidden fees, making it a valuable item, and on par with competitors AT & T and Verizon.

The phone card also had a sweepstakes feature that gave users 100 sweepstakes points for each dollar spent on prepaid telephone time. Nonusers were also entitled to 100 sweepstakes points per day, just for entering the store, and nonusers could also mail in a request and would receive 200 points for each mail-in request. The sweepstakes points allowed the user to accumulate "winning points," which were redeemable for cash at the register for \$1 per 100 winning points. In other words, the sweepstakes points that came with each phone card had no monetary value; any potential monetary value was realized only if the person entered the sweepstakes and obtained winning points.

Each sweepstakes consists of a finite pool or batch of entries, with a certain number of predetermined winning entries in sequence, just like McDonald's Monopoly. Customers who chose to redeem sweepstakes points could either ask the clerk if their phone card was a winner (called a "Quick Redeem"), or they could use computer terminals in the store to reveal whether they won any prize. The computer terminals revealed whether a prize was won by using popular cell phone gaming themes and traditional slot style gaming themes.

The sweepstakes feature is completely independent from the phone card's benefits. The customers' available telephone time is not reduced by time spent on the computer terminals revealing the results of the prize tickets, nor is the telephone time reduced by any result or outcome from the entry into the sweepstakes. The only reduction in telephone time is due to its use in making phone calls. In other words, the sweepstakes feature allows a customer to win; he or she cannot lose, and the customer has not staked or hazarded anything of value to participate in the sweepstakes.

Appellants had entered into a licensing agreement with Phone-Sweeps, LLC to sell Phone-Sweeps phone cards. These are the phone cards at issue in this case. Phone-Sweeps developed its sweepstakes feature in

accordance with California law. Corporations routinely use sweepstakes promotions to increase business. Corporations routinely offer prizes in gambling themed games where the outcome of winning is unknown to the patron, and the result is revealed on a computer or smart phone.

For a corporation to conduct a sweepstakes that is legal under California law, the sweepstakes must not constitute a lottery or utilize a slot machine. To avoid being a lottery, the corporation must be promoting a legitimate product and it must offer a legitimate free method of entry into the sweepstakes. (Regal Petroleum California Gasoline Retailers v. Regal Petroleum Corp. (1958) 50 Cal.2d 844, 853-857 (Regal Petroleum).) The Phone-Sweeps phone cards offered a sweepstakes feature in conformance with California law, as it was a legitimate product that offered a legitimate free entry into its sweepstakes.

To avoid being labeled a slot machine, the computer revealing the prize must not be able to randomize, because under California law <u>prior to this case</u>, the *machine itself* must determine the element of chance. (*Trinkle v. California State Lottery* (2003) 105 Cal.App.4th 1401, 1411 (*Trinkle II*).) The Phone-Sweeps computers revealing the sweepstakes prizes are not slot machines under *Trinkle II*, as the Phone-Sweeps computer terminals simply display the results of a preset entry and do not randomize.

The Legislature amended section 330b three times after the *Trinkle II* decision but left its analysis intact. (See, infra, p. 19, n. 3.) "Where a statute has been construed by judicial decision, and that construction is not altered by subsequent legislation, it must be presumed that the Legislature is aware of the judicial construction and approves of it." (*Wilkoff v. Superior Court* (1985) 38 Cal.3d 345, 353, citations omitted.)

The Court of Appeal unexpectedly changed the playing field when it overturned the long-standing *Trinkle II* decision, stating: "we disagree with *Trinkle II's* description of the manner in which the chance element must be

realized in order to constitute a slot machine or device under section 330b." (*People v. Grewal* (2014) 224 Cal.App.4th 527, 541.) Under *Grewal*, an illegal slot machine is found whenever upon the payment of money for the purchase of a telephone card, a patron can activate computer sweepstakes games on the terminals, and "based on 'chance' or 'other outcome of operation unpredictable by' the *patron*, win cash prizes." (224 Cal.App.4th at pp. 540-541, emphasis added.)

In so holding, *Grewal* violated this basic tenet of appellate law and, in so doing, stretched the definition of slot machine past its snapping point, as *all* corporate sweepstakes have a feature where the outcome is unknown to the patron. Thus, *Grewal* has criminalized every corporate sweepstakes where the winning entry is revealed on a computer or smart phone, as that device now constitutes an illegal slot machine.

Grewal is bad for business in California. If the Grewal definition of "slot machine" is left to stand, it will outlaw legitimate business promotions in California where the result is revealed on a computer or smart phone, and it will not be long before a legion of private attorneys general sue each and every business establishment conducting such a sweepstakes for damages under Business and Professions Code section 17200, as such statutes have often been used as a springboard for "abusive litigation by serial plaintiffs or attorneys seeking only financial gain, often through extortion of settlements." (Munson v. Del Taco, Inc. (2009) 46 Cal.4th 661, 697-698.)

¹ The *Nasser* case is the unpublished companion to the published *Grewal* case, 224 Cal.App.4th 527; the Court of Appeal in *Grewal* stated that the fact the appellants in *Grewal* sold internet time instead of phone cards (as here) had no effect on the court's analysis: "With no material differences, the same rationale and disposition follows in those cases as is stated here." (224 Cal.App.4th at p. 531, n. 1.) The court's legal analysis is identical in both opinions. For the Court's convenience, this brief will cite to the published *Grewal* legal analysis when appropriate.

The Legislature has attempted to address this problem with the passage of AB 1439, an Enrolled Bill placed on the Governor's desk on September 8, 2014, and scheduled to go into effect on January 1, 2015. AB 1439 amends Business and Professions Code section 17539.1, relating to sweepstakes. The legislation was passed knowing the *Grewal* case was up for review to the Court, but without waiting to find out if review would be granted.

A Senate Rules Committee analysis for AB 1439 has stated that appellants ran a legal sweepstakes under existing California law: "As long as there is a legitimate free method of entry into the sweepstakes or promotion, the consideration element is absent, and the 'sweepstakes is not a lottery. According to the State Governmental Organization Committee, it appears that most Internet cafés are not operating illegal lotteries under California law." (Sen. Rules Com., Off. of Sen. Floor Analyses, 3d reading analysis of Assem. Bill 1439 (2013-2014 Reg. Sess.), as amended Aug. 21, 2014, p. 4.)

Accordingly, AB 1439 has narrowed the definition of "sweepstakes" by outlawing business establishments that offer a product that has a sweepstakes feature that offers simulated gambling for cash prizes. To protect "good corporate citizens," AB 1439 exempts "game promotions or sweepstakes conducted by for-profit commercial entities on a limited and occasional basis as an advertising and marketing tool that are incidental to substantial bona fide sales of consumer products or services and that are not intended to provide a vehicle for the establishment of places of ongoing gambling or gaming." It is unclear whether this language will protect businesses engaging in sweepstakes from Business and Professions Code section 17200 suits.

For purposes of this brief, appellants point out only that the Senate Rules Committee finding, that Internet cafés were conducting legal sweepstakes under then-existing California law, reinforces the conclusion that the *Grewal* opinion, if upheld, must be given prospective application because a retroactive application would constitute a judicial violation of due process, which occurs when a judicial interpretation of a criminal statute constitutes "an unforeseeable judicial enlargement of a criminal statute applied retroactively." (*People v. Sobiek* (1973) 30 Cal.App.3d 458, 474, citing *Boule v. City of Columbia* (1964) 378 U.S. 347.)

Appellants' conducted a legal sweepstakes under then-existing California law, and were certainly entitled to rely on the entrenched *Trinkle II* definition of "slot machine" in implementing their sweepstakes, especially where the Legislature had amended section 330b three times after the *Trinkle II* opinion but left its analysis intact.

STATEMENT OF FACTS²

Appellants operate stores that sell "Tel-Connect" and "Inter-Connect" prepaid telephone cards. (Reporter's Transcript ("RT") 13.) Appellants' telephone cards are furnished by Phone-Sweeps, LLC, a company based near Toronto, Canada. (RT 6.) Phone-Sweeps' wholesale telephone service provider is located in Texas. (RT 17.) Appellants and Phone-Sweeps entered into a licensing agreement so that Appellants could sell the prepaid telephone cards in their stores. (RT 42.)

The prepaid telephone cards look like credit cards, and purchasers are registered by name, address and some form of identification. The back of the card contains a PIN number. To place a phone call, customers call a

The facts regarding appellants' business practice are not in dispute, and are generally taken from Appellants' Opening Brief to the Court of Appeal. The trial court heard the *Nasser* and *Elmalih* cases together, and the Reporter's Transcript is identical in both cases. The facts appear in that brief on pages 2-9.

toll-free access number, provide the PIN number, and then dial their desired number. Phone-Sweeps' wholesale telephone service provider keeps track of the minutes used across the entire network. Phone Sweeps' customers use between 900,000 and 1.5 million minutes per week. (RT 16-18.)

Phone-Sweeps' main competitors are Verizon, AT&T, and other large national brands. In order to compete with them, Phone-Sweeps cards offer a lower per minute phone rate (three cents per minute for domestic calls and five cents per minute for international calls) and the card has no hidden charges, such as maintenance and PIN fees or minimum calling times. Also, the card is re-chargeable, so minutes left are not wasted, and are rolled into the new minutes purchased. All of these features make the card more valuable per minute than its competitors. (RT 11-14.) *Phone-Sweeps' revenue is derived solely from its phone card sales*. (RT 16.)

Despite these benefits, Phone-Sweeps found that the only way it could compete in this industry was for its licensees to offer a promotional sweepstakes to encourage the sale of its card over that of its competitors. (RT 9-10.) Phone-Sweeps also provides the computer software system that operates its sweepstakes programs, including the computer sweepstakes games. (RT 18-20.) When a customer purchases a telephone card or purchases more time on his existing card, he receives 100 sweepstakes points for each dollar spent on prepaid telephone time. Thus, if a customer purchases \$20 in telephone time, he receives 667 minutes of domestic phone time. (*Nasser* Clerk's Transcript ("NCT") 25.)

Noncustomers also receive sweepstakes points because no purchase is necessary to enter the sweepstakes. Persons over the age of 18 who enters appellants' stores can receive 100 free sweepstakes points for that day. (RT 22.) Additionally, noncustomers can also receive free sweepstakes points by mailing in request form. They receive 200 free points with each mail-in request. (RT 22.)

Customers may enter the free sweepstakes by using their sweepstakes points either at the sales clerk's point of sale terminal or at the computer terminals provided at appellants' premises. The customers' available telephone time is not reduced by time spent on the computer terminals revealing the results of the prize tickets, nor is the telephone time reduced by any result or outcome from the entry into the sweepstakes. The only reduction in telephone time is due to its use in making calls. In other words, the sweepstakes feature allows a customer to win; he or she cannot lose. (RT 62, 80-87.) Currently, a customer gains access to the computer sweepstakes function by manually entering his or her PIN number on the terminal keyboard. (RT 21.)

Once the computer sweepstakes function is accessed, the customer is presented with a number of games ranging from popular cell phone gaming themes to traditional slot style gaming themes, which are activated by a touch screen or mouse. (NCT 25-26.) While using the free points to display the outcome of the sweepstakes tickets, all winning results are accumulated in a separate account (called "winning points"), which the system tracks and displays on the screen. (RT 36.) Winning points are redeemable for cash at the register for \$1 per 100 points. (NCT 27.) For example, 2,400 winning points would result in a cash prize of \$24.00.

If a customer does not wish to play the sweepstakes games, he or she simply purchases his phone card and leaves the store with a valuable phone card. He may also ask the cashier to do a "Quick Redeem" at the register to reveal whether his sweepstakes points have won him a prize. (RT 19, 79.)

Each sweepstakes consists of a finite pool or batch of entries. (RT 26, 48-49.) This is exactly the same as McDonald's Monopoly and any other "finite pool" sweepstakes. Approximately 65 million entries are in each pool, and within those entries, a certain number are predetermined to be winners. (RT 49.) Phone-Sweeps main server in Canada creates the

pools. (RT 46.) The main server randomizes the entries in each pool, puts them into a set, in sequential order, and then delivers the pool in that sequential order to the "Point of Sale" computer (or server) in appellants' stores. (RT 63, 81.) There is nothing appellants or their customers can do to change the sequence or contents of the entries once they leave Phone-Sweeps' main server in Canada. (RT 23, 63, 81.)

When customers enter the computer sweepstakes via Quick Redeem or by utilizing the computerized game display, they are simply receiving and obtaining the results of the next available entry or entries, in sequence. Thus, the outcomes are predetermined and the customer cannot impact the result. Additionally, neither appellants' servers (i.e., the point of sale computers) nor the computer terminals where the computer sweepstakes games are played contain a random number generator or any other way to randomize or alter the sequence of the entry results. (RT 20-23, 80-82.) The computer terminals are standard, off the shelf Hewlett-Packard computers that anyone could purchase at a retail store. (RT 19-20.)

As to the prepaid telephone time actually used by customers, appellants' expert testified it was his understanding that the phone cards' usage rates "came within the range of the industry which includes the big guys like AT&T and Verizon," (RT 70) and appellants also provided the trial court with an expert declaration stating that during 2011, California customers used approximately 31 percent of the Tel-Connect and Inter-Connect phone minutes that they purchased. (NCT 194.)

LEGAL BACKGROUND

Because it is important to put the *Grewal* decision in its proper context, the brief will first discuss legal sweepstakes and business promotions conducted by corporations across California, and then it will discuss the *Trinkle II* case.

A. Sweepstakes or Business Promotions

Lotteries are illegal in California (Pen. Code § 319), with the constitutionally authorized exception for the California State Lottery (article IV, § 19, subd. (a)). Sweepstakes or business promotions, on the other hand, are legal and are regularly utilized by companies to increase sales. The difference between the two is simple: so long as a sweepstakes or business promotion, in addition to purchase of a genuine product, has a legitimate free method of entry, it is legal.

As stated by the Court in *Regal Petroleum*, *supra*, 50 Cal.2d 844, 853-854, "there are three elements necessary to constitute a lottery. These elements are: (1) The disposition of property, (2) upon a contingency determined by chance, (3) to a person who has paid a valuable consideration for the chance of winning the prize, that is to say, one who has hazarded something of value upon the chance." (Emphasis in original.) But "in order to constitute consideration within the definition of a lottery, there must be valuable consideration paid, or promised to be paid by the ticket holder." (Id. at p. 862, emphasis in original.) Thus, so long as there is a legitimate free method of entry into the sweepstakes or promotion, the consideration element is absent. (Id. at pp. 854-857.) The fact that the business owner receives a benefit in increased sales and patronage is not consideration and is irrelevant. (Id. at pp. 854-857, 861.)

Accordingly, the promotion in *Regal Petroleum* was deemed a legitimate business promotion, as gasoline purchasers and nonpurchasers alike were given a chance to win the prizes. (50 Cal.2d at p. 862.) Similarly, the giveaways in *People v. Cardas* (1933) 137 Cal.App.Supp. 788, and in *People v. Carpenter* (1956) 141 Cal.App.2d 884, were deemed legitimate business promotions, as sweepstakes tickets were provided to theater attendees and nonattendees alike.

As stated in *People v. Shira* (1976) 62 Cal.App.3d 442, which held defendant's business promotion to be a lottery where everyone paid for a ticket and the ticket only promoted game itself: "An obvious important factual distinction between [Cardas, Carpenter and Regal Petroleum] which found a lottery did not exist and the case at bench is that they involved promotional schemes by using prize tickets to increase the purchases of legitimate goods and services in the free market place, i.e., theater tickets (Cardas and Carpenter) and gasoline and service from filling stations (Regal). While here, the RINGO game is conducted as a business and the game itself is the product being merchandized." (62 Cal.App.3d at p. 458.) And for those legitimate business promotions to be legal, the court further held that any and all persons who want a sweepstakes ticket must be given the ticket free of charge and without any of them paying for the opportunity to win the prize. (Id. at p. 459.)

Appellants' Phone-Sweeps' phone cards sweepstakes is a legal business promotion under California law. It promoted the sale of a legitimate phone card that gave true value to the purchaser, it had a free mail-in feature, and any and all persons who came into the store were entitled to enter the sweepstakes for free and did not have to pay for the opportunity to win a prize.

B. Trinkle v. California State Lottery (Trinkle II)

Trinkle sought declaratory relief to determine whether the California State Lottery's (CSL's) use of electronic vending machines to dispense SCRATCHERS lottery tickets is an illegal use of slot machines. (*Trinkle II*, 105 Cal.App.4th at p. 1403.) The parties stipulated that the CSL provides SCRATCHERS tickets for its electromagnetic device, which is a standalone device containing bins into which 100 - 250 tickets are loaded.

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