IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

DEC 24 2014

是古典教育、自私等的自己、特别。

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff/Respondent,

v.

KAMAL KENNY NASSER,

Defendant/Appellant.

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff/Respondent,

v.

GHASSAN ELMALIH

Defendant/Appellant.

CASE NO. S217979

Appellate Case No: F066645, consolidated with F066646

Kern County Sup Ct No. CV-276603

Appellate Case No: F066646, consolidated with F066645

Kern County Sup Ct No. CV-276962

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

LISA S. GREEN, District Attorney
County of Kern, State of California
GREGORY A. PULSKAMP, SBN 166784
Supervising Deputy District Attorney

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

ARGUMENT

I. BACKGROUND OF THE SWEEPSTAKES CAFÉ GAMBLING PHENOMENON

Appellants' gambling schemes are not isolated ventures. Indeed, as described herein, courts throughout the United States have been dealing with illegal sweepstakes schemes essentially identical to those of Appellants. In the fall 2012 edition of the University of Nevada Las Vegas Gaming Law Journal, the authors did an in-depth review of the sweepstakes café phenomenon, generally describing it as follows:

In recent years, a new phenomenon of "convenience gambling" has spread across the country. Utilizing the speed and sophistication of networked computer technology, proprietors are offering the appeal of slot machine gambling in strip mall store fronts under the legal cover of laws drafted for sweepstakes designed in the 1970s and 1980s for Publisher's Clearing House and the McDonald's Monopoly game. However, unlike the games intended to drive sales of commercial products, these new gambling enterprises appear

more focused on the typical casino goal of attracting gambling revenue rather than increased profits from the underlying non-gambling business. These new forms of gambling operate under the innocuous moniker of "Internet cafe," and are pushing the boundaries of gambling laws and regulations. Quite often, the communities in which they operate are ill-equipped to deal with their oversight.

The term "Internet café" requires further explanation, as it is a bit of a misnomer. On most occasions, patrons of an Internet cafe are not interested in accessing the Internet, nor are they enjoying the relaxing coffee-infused environment generally imagined when one fashions a mental picture of a "cafe." Rather, the type of Internet cafe at issue in this Article, also known as an "adult amusement arcade" or "convenience casino," is a place where people go to play electronic sweepstakes games that look and sound almost identical to slot machines found in regulated casinos around the world. The name "Internet café" is derived from the commercial product purportedly sold by these operations, i.e. internet time, and the intent of the proprietor to demonstrate facial compliance with state gambling laws. Many states in which these facilities operate have laws allowing a commercial business to conduct promotional sweepstakes in conjunction with the sale of a "good or service" to its customers. The sweepstakes serve as a marketing aid to drive sales of the underlying commercial product. These sweepstakes promotions range from the well-known "look under the cap" games of soft drink manufacturers to code numbers on restaurant and store receipts, which when entered following an online consumer satisfaction survey enroll the customer into a prize drawing.

* * * *

The argument of Internet cafe operators is that their operations are no different from McDonald's, Coca-Cola, or Home Depot. Counsel for a coalition of Internet cafes was quoted in Florida as saying:

The sweepstakes is simply a marketing tool used to promote the Internet and telephone time purchased at these cafes. . . .

Despite this purported legal justification in support of their legitimacy, many customers, and even media outlets, are entirely unaware that this "marketing tool" is not the actual underlying business, and that Internet cafes are not essentially casinos. The fact that the games played so closely resemble slot machines and are located inside facilities that have names such as "Luxxor Casino" or "Lucky 777 Café" further blurs the line as to what the underlying business actually entails. (Dunbar and Russell, *The History of Internet Cafes and the Current Approach to Their Regulation* (Fall 2012) 3 UNLV Gaming L.J. 243 pp. *243-*245.)

While some states may be having difficulty dealing with these sophisticated gambling schemes, California law unqualifiedly prohibits such schemes, no matter how well disguised.

II. THE SWEEPSTAKES GAMING SYSTEMS VIOLATE PENAL CODE SECTION 330b

A. Well-Accepted Rules Of Construction Should Be Applied To The Language Of Penal Code Section 330b

"The interpretation and construction of a statute, such as a [gambling statute], and its applicability to a given situation, are questions of law for the reviewing court. [Citations.]" (Bell Gardens Bicycle Club v. Dep't of Justice (1995) 36 Cal.App.4th 717, 746.)

California's broad Penal Code provisions on gambling devices forbid a wide range of electronic and mechanical machines beyond traditional casino-style slots. (Pen. Code §§ 330a, 330b, 330.1.)⁴
Appellants invite this court to wholly undercut these long-standing

⁴ Penal Code sections 330b and 330.1 have similar definitions of a "slot machine or device." (*Trinkle v. Stroh* (1997) 60 Cal.App.4th 771, 778-780 & fn. 4.) Penal Code section 330a also has a similar definition of "slot or card machine, contrivance, appliance or mechanical device." (*Hotel Employees & Restaurant Employees Internat. Union v. Davis* (1999) 21 Cal.4th 585, 593-594.) For purposes of this brief, Penal Code section 330b is discussed in the most detail, but the analysis is applicable to all three statutes.

prohibitory statutes by adopting a tortured and narrow construction of them. But contrary to Appellants' proposed statutory reconstruction, it is well-accepted that the starting place for statutory construction is a plain reading of the statutes based upon the "ordinary import of the language employed." (Fontana Unified School District v. Burman (1988) 45 Cal.3d 208.)

With respect to Penal Code section 330b, subdivision (d),⁵
Appellants would have this Court delete, ignore, or change the statute's language. They advocate ignoring the phrase "or by any other means" with respect to the so-called "insertion" element necessary to establish a violation of subdivision (d). Appellants also suggest deleting or ignoring language that a violation of section 330b, subdivision (d), will be found "irrespective of whether [the gambling device] may, apart from any element of hazard or chance or unpredictable outcome of operation, also sell, deliver, or present some merchandise, indication of weight, entertainment, or other thing of value." Perhaps most importantly, Appellants implore the

⁵ In its entirety, Penal Code section 330b, subdivision (d), defines a "slot machine or device" as unlawful if it:

is adapted, or may readily be converted, for use in a way that, as a result of the insertion of any piece of money or coin or other object, or by any other means, the machine or device is caused to operate or may be operated, and by reason of any element of hazard or chance or other outcome of operation unpredictable by him or her, the user may receive or become entitled to receive any piece of money, credit, allowance, or thing of value, or additional chance or right to use the slot machine or device, or any check, slug, token, or memorandum, whether of value or otherwise, which may be exchanged for any money, credit, allowance, or thing of value, or which may be given in trade, irrespective of whether it may, apart from any element of hazard or chance or unpredictable outcome of operation, also sell, deliver or present some merchandise, indication of weight, entertainment or thing of value.

Court to re-write the statute by changing the word "or" to "and" in the phrase "by reason of any element of hazard or chance *or* of other outcome of operation unpredictable by him or her"

In contrast to Appellants' proposed revisions to Penal Code section 330b, subdivision (d), the People ask this Court to apply the statute's language as written, "according to the usual, ordinary import of the language employed in framing [it]'... '[giving significance] to every word, phrase, sentence and part of [subdivision (d)] in pursuance of the legislative purpose." (Fontana Unified School District v. Burman, supra, 45 Cal.3d at p. 218)

B. The Sweepstakes Gaming Systems Contain All The Elements Of Gambling Devices Under Penal Code Section 330b

At its essence, Penal Code section 330b finds a device to be a gambling device (or slot machine) if "by the insertion of money and purely by chance (without any skill whatsoever), the user may receive or become entitled to receive money." (People ex rel. Bill Lockyer v. Pacific Gaming Technologies (2000) 82 Cal.App.4th 699, 703 (Pacific Gaming Technologies).) California courts have found this statute's broad scope to prohibit a wide variety of devices under California law as gambling devices. (Id. at 703 [holding that a device that dispensed a five-minute phone card for \$1.00 was a gambling device because operators also received the random chance to win a sweepstakes prize]; Trinkle v. Stroh (1997) 60 Cal.App.4th 771, 775-77 (Trinkle I) [holding a jukebox that dispensed four songs for \$1.00 was a gambling device because operators also received the random chance to win a cash jackpot]; Score Family Fun Center, Inc. v. County of San Diego (1990) 225 Cal.App.3d 1217, 1221-1223 (Score Family Fun Center) [holding that a video game that simulated

card games was a gambling device because operators could as a matter of chance win free games]; *Merandette v. City and County of San Francisco* (1979) 88 Cal.App.3d 105, 113-14 (*Merandette*) [finding that video devices that offered free games by chance can also be prohibited by this statute].)

Based on the above authority, Appellants' Sweepstakes Gaming Systems, as operated and observed on their private computer networks, constituted illegal gambling devices under Penal Code section 330b.⁶ For the payment of money, patrons could have, based upon "chance" or "other outcome of operation unpredictable by" the patron, won cash prizes of up to \$4,200.00. (Pen. Code § 330b, subd. (d); Nasser CT, p. 140; Elmalih CT, p. 33-34.)

C. The Sweepstakes Gaming Systems Satisfy The "Insertion" Requirement Stated In Penal Code Section 330b

Appellants' attempt to exclude their Sweepstakes Gaming Systems on the basis that a physical item was not manually inserted into the Sweepstakes Gaming Systems is not credible and should be quickly rejected. Indeed, the record shows that Appellants' Sweepstakes Gaming Systems required the insertion of a magnetic striped card in order to make them operational. (Nasser CT, p. 24:14-16; Elmalih CT, p. 25:19-21; RT, p. 21:12-28.) Although the Sweepstakes Gaming Systems later switched to a PIN activated system, this method still falls squarely within the statute which expressly includes devices that may be operated by the physical insertion of an object ". . . or by any other means." (Pen. Code § 330b, subd. (d), italics added.) Penal Code section 330a reinforces the point by

⁶ Appellants would like to force law enforcement to ignore the actual operation of their devices as can be observed by anyone, and require a painstaking review of their sophisticated software to see if they have somehow managed to build outcome predictability into their systems. But such a showing is simply not required by the statute.

including devices that may be operated by depositing physical items "... or in any other manner." (Pen. Code § 330a, subd. (a).) Penal Code section 330.1 adds even greater clarity and consistency in the law by including devices that may be operated by the insertion of a physical item "... or may be operated or played, mechanically, electrically, automatically, or manually." (Pen. Code § 330.1, subd. (f).) Therefore, the Court of Appeal⁷ correctly held that "[h]ere, the insertion of a PIN or the swiping of a magnetic card at the computer terminal in order to activate or access the sweepstakes games and thereby use points received upon paying money at the register (ostensibly to purchase a product) plainly came within the broad scope of the statute[s]." (Slip opn., p. 13; People v. Grewal, et. al. (2014) 224 Cal.App.4th 527, 760-761.) If Appellants could evade the scope of California's slot machine and gambling device prohibitions by merely using a PIN or magnetic striped card to identify their customers and effectuate betting, then there would be no reason for them to resort to their sweepstakes ruse.

D. The Chance Element In Penal Code Section 330b Is In The Alternative To An Outcome (Winning Or Not Winning Cash Prizes) Unpredictable To The User

Penal Code section 330b explicitly states that a device may qualify as a gambling device if the prize is awarded "... by reason of any element of hazard or chance or of other outcome of operation unpredictable by him or her." (Pen. Code § 330b, subd. (d), italics added.) The Court of Appeal

⁷ This case is very closely related to the published decision in *People v. Grewal*, et. al. (2014) 224 Cal.App.4th 527. The Court of Appeal properly utilized the same analysis and issued nearly identical opinions in both cases. For this Court's convenience and to provide consistency with Appellants' Opening Brief (AOB), Respondent will also cite to the *Grewal* opinion when appropriate.

in this case properly noted that the defined terms are "clearly in the disjunctive" and that the statute "refers to *chance* 'or' *unpredictable* outcome." (Slip opn., p. 11-12; *Grewal, supra*, 224 Cal.App.4th at p. 541, italics in original.)

Contrary to Appellants' contention, the Court of Appeal was not acting in a cavalier manner when they settled on this interpretation. In fact, the Court of Appeal appropriately acted in accordance with the statute's plain reading and traditional rules of statutory construction. (See, e.g., People v. Beaver (2010) 186 Cal.App.4th 107, 117.) Further, the Court of Appeal was not the first appellate court to place significance on Penal Code section 330b's use of the disjunctive "or." The Appellate Court in Score Family Fun Center made the same observation:

The . . . premise that to be an illegal slot machine, the results of playing the game must occur both "by reason of any element of hazard or chance" and be unpredictable to the user is not supported by the language of the statute. The statute provides a machine is a slot machine if "by reason of any element of hazard or chance or of other outcome of such operation unpredictable by him, the user may receive or become entitled to receive any piece of money, credit, allowance or thing of value or additional chance or right to use such slot machine " (Pen. Code § 330b, subd. [(d)].) (Score Family Fun Center, supra, 225 Cal.App.3d at p. 1221, fn. omitted, italics in original.)

This Court, too, has reached this same self-evident conclusion in statutory construction stating: "use of the word 'or' in a statute indicates an intention to use it disjunctively so as to designate alternative or separate categories. [Citations.]" (White v. County of Sacramento (1982) 31 Cal.3d 676, 690.) With respect to the precise construction that Appellants argue for here, that the use of "or" in a statute should be construed as "and," this Court stated: "the language of [the statute] does not reasonably permit us to interpret the first 'or' . . . as meaning 'and.' Such a construction can only

be reached by rewriting the statute's language." (*People v. Garcia* (1999) 21 Cal.4th 1, 11, italics in original.) This same disjunctive use of the term "or" is mandated under Penal Code section 330b, subdivision (d).

E. The Sweepstakes Gaming Systems Operated In A Manner That Was Unpredictable To The Users

It is beyond dispute that Appellants' Sweepstakes Gaming Systems operated in a manner that was unpredictable to the user. Appellants have openly conceded that the patrons had no control over the outcome (RT, pp. 28:11-23, 88:2-21.); that no actions of skill or technique could impact the results (Nasser CT, p. 142; Elmalih CT, p. 34; RT, p. 81:24-82:3); and that nobody knew of the results until a particular entry had been drawn and then revealed (RT, p. 27:2-19). Therefore, Appellants have conceded that their Sweepstakes Gaming Systems operated in a manner that was "unpredictable" to the user. No further showing is required to establish the requisite element under Penal Code section 330b, subdivision (d), when the statute is properly read in the disjunctive.

F. The Sweepstakes Gaming Systems Operated By Reason Of Hazard Or Chance

The "chance" outcome of the Sweepstakes Gaming Systems is shown by Appellants' use of the term "sweepstakes" and the odds tables for winning cash prizes. (See e.g., State v. One Hundred & Fifty-Eight Gaming Devices (Md. 1985) 49 A2d 940, 957 ["We hold that all of the seized coin-activated, free-play devices . . . which involved an element of chance and which were equipped with odds mechanisms . . . are illegal slot machines . . .] and Bus. & Prof. Code, § 17539.5 subd. (12) ["Sweepstakes" means any procedure for the distribution of anything of value by lot or by chance . . ."].)

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